THE COLLEGE OF THE UPPER HUNGARIAN ESTATES IN THE ACADEMIC, POLITICAL, AND SCIENTIFIC NETWORKS OF EARLY MODERN EUROPE


The Evangelical College in Prešov has, since its foundation, ranked among the most important Protestant educational institutions within the Kingdom of Hungary. Established in the second half of the seventeenth century, it represented not only the first, and for a considerable period the sole, Lutheran institution of higher education in the realm, but also a political institution of substantial influence, shaping an entire generation of figures active in the social and cultural spheres of both Upper and Lower Hungary. Over the course of two centuries, the College became an indispensable component of the cultural development of northeastern Hungary and, in particular, of the free royal town of Prešov. It should be emphasised that it was largely owing to the College that Prešov acquired the reputation of a significant centre of education and scholarship. In this respect, the city earned various epithets, such as the Renaissance-inspired “Little Leipzig” and “Little Vienna,” and above all the more recent and most renowned designation, the “Athens on the Torysa.” For more than two and a half centuries, the College thus constituted an organic element of the town, shaping not only its cultural and political life, but also its broader image within Central European contexts. Throughout its activity, the College educated several hundred graduates, many of whom distinguished themselves as leading figures in political, military, ecclesiastical, cultural, scientific, and artistic life in Hungary and abroad. Their careers significantly contributed to disseminating the reputation of their alma mater and to enhancing its prestige, not merely within their homeland but also in the wider European intellectual and cultural milieu. The foundation of the Evangelical College in Prešov in the autumn of 1665 must be understood in the context of the specific domestic and international political circumstances of the period. Initiated at the behest of the estates of Upper Hungary, its establishment was facilitated by the town’s strategic position and, importantly, by the willingness of its magistracy to provide the institution with sustained support. Equally significant, however, were the long-standing educational traditions of Prešov itself, with its more than two-and-a-half-century history of schooling, which provided fertile ground for the foundation of such an institution.

The College in the Context of International and Hungarian Developments in the Seventeenth Century
The College of the Upper Hungarian Estates was founded in the second half of the seventeenth century in Prešov, within the Kingdom of Hungary, during an exceptionally dynamic period situated at the intersection of domestic and pan-European political struggles.
Europe on the eve of the second half of the seventeenth century was still recovering from the wounds and devastation caused by the longest and most destructive military conflict the continent had hitherto experienced: the Thirty Years’ War. The Peace of Westphalia, concluded in 1648, established new conditions for the existence of most European states, including Hungary and its Evangelical Church. For a long time, it divided the continent into Habsburg and anti-Habsburg spheres. The Habsburg monarchy, together with its Spanish ally, thus remained opposed even in peacetime to France and Swedish-controlled Scandinavia, while also maintaining a constant vigilance against the Ottoman Empire. Similarly, the peace effectively froze the division of the Holy Roman Empire into Catholic, pro-Habsburg territories (Bavaria, Baden, the Rhineland) and Protestant, anti-Habsburg states (Saxony, Württemberg, Brandenburg).
These new circumstances created an adverse situation for Hungarian Protestants, whose intellectual and confessional ties had long bound them to anti-Habsburg countries such as the Netherlands, Sweden, and the Protestant German principalities. It was particularly in these lands and at their universities that Hungarian Reformed and Lutheran clergy received their education. Moreover, the Peace of Westphalia had even more far-reaching and detrimental consequences for Hungarian Protestants, as it effectively freed the monarch to pursue the gradual dismantling of estate privileges and religious liberties, following the precedent of Bohemia and Moravia.
The reign of Leopold I in the latter half of the century marked a decisive turn in Habsburg policy in Hungary toward absolutism. Leopold’s absolutism was accompanied by the restriction of estate rights and their exclusion from the governance of the country, by economic exploitation through the imposition of both increased traditional levies and numerous new taxes, by the terror of military occupation, and ultimately by forcible re-Catholicisation. This policy united the Hungarian estates and large segments of society in opposition to central power during a series of anti-Habsburg uprisings: from the Wesselényi Conspiracy through the insurrection of Imre Thököly to the uprising led by Francis II Rákóczi. In these struggles, which profoundly shaped Hungarian society throughout the second half of the century (up to 1711), the defence of Protestant religious freedom occupied a position of particular importance. The College of the Upper Hungarian Estates was not only influenced by these conflicts but must also be regarded as a distinct product of them.
All of the aforementioned developments and changes in both international and Hungarian affairs had serious consequences for the Evangelical Lutheran Church, which, as recently as half a century earlier, counted more than half of the population of the Kingdom of Hungary among its adherents. As a result of the changing international situation and the deterioration of Habsburg relations with the German Protestant states during the Thirty Years’ War, the opportunities for graduates of Lutheran gymnasia to pursue studies at German universities—where the majority of Hungarian clergy had hitherto been trained—became increasingly limited in the second half of the century. Consequently, the establishment of a domestic Lutheran theological faculty became a necessity. At the same time, the growing activity of the two Jesuit educational institutions—the University of Trnava, operating since 1635, and the recently founded academy in Košice—further underscored the need to create a Lutheran institution of higher learning that could serve as a worthy counterpart to these Catholic establishments.

On the Path to a Higher Education Institution for Hungarian Lutherans
The idea of establishing a Lutheran institution of higher learning within the Kingdom of Hungary was not new. Already in the first half of the seventeenth century, it had been considered by the highest-ranking clerical and secular authorities of the Church. Their proposals identified potential locations for such a school, including Bytča or free royal towns such as Levoča. By the second half of the seventeenth century, however, and particularly as a result of the advancing re-Catholicisation, the establishment of a higher Lutheran school was conceivable only in the eastern part of the country, in Upper Hungary, specifically within its two westernmost Lutheran counties, Šariš and Spiš. Upper Hungary, as the easternmost region of the kingdom, lay furthest from Vienna and comprised thirteen counties: Spiš, Šariš, Zemplín, Abov, Turňa, Uzh, Bereg, Ugocsa, Gömör, Heves, Borsod, Szabolcs, and Szatmár. This territory also contained the largest number of free royal towns in the kingdom, forming the so-called Pentapolitana—a confederation of five, and later six, towns (Košice, Prešov, Levoča, Bardejov, Sabinov, and from 1660, Kežmarok). It was also home to significant Upper Hungarian royal mining towns, which, while less prominent than those in Lower Hungary, played a crucial role in the economic life of the entire country (including Smolník, Rožňava, Gelnica, Mníšek, and Dobšiná). The centre of the region was Košice, where the two most important central offices of Habsburg administration—the Upper Hungarian Main Captaincy and the Spiš Chamber—were located. Upper Hungary, lacking substantial ties to the hereditary lands, remained largely spared from re-Catholicisation until the second half of the century and became a centre of anti-Habsburg resistance. It also became the administrative and financial hub of the Hungarian Lutheran Church, in which the Upper Hungarian estates and free royal towns played a dominant role from the mid-seventeenth century onwards.
It was in this environment that the idea of establishing a Lutheran higher education institution, dedicated to training new clergy and teachers, took root. Naturally, the estates initially sought to establish a full university, which, however, required the sanction of the monarch—a prospect unacceptable to Leopold. Consequently, the estates had to consider alternative models of higher education, drawing upon the long-standing traditions of humanist Lutheran gymnasia in the free royal towns. More feasible models were the academic gymnasia operating in the German states or collegiate institutions providing basic, gymnasium-level, and lower tertiary education. Such colleges existed in Hungary and Transylvania within the Reformed Church environment, the closest examples being Blatný Potok and Debrecen.
The question of the location for the new school was considered by delegates of the estates during joint sessions held prior to the formal proclamation of the College’s establishment, in the summer of 1665. After careful deliberation and for a variety of reasons, the delegates ultimately selected the free royal town of Prešov as the site for the institution. Among the six free royal towns of Upper Hungary, only Prešov and Košice possessed strong, modern fortifications; however, only in Prešov was the Catholic Church absent, thereby eliminating a potential source of tension between students and the townspeople.
Moreover, the town’s multilingual environment allowed students to acquire German, Hungarian, and Slovak with relative ease, facilitating both their education and social integration. The municipal authorities actively endorsed the establishment of the College, providing a suitable site for its construction and expressing a willingness to assume a substantial portion of the costs associated with its future operation.
An additional factor in favor of Prešov was the existence of a prominent municipal school, which had been in operation at least since the late fourteenth century. By the mid-sixteenth century, this institution had evolved into a humanist gymnasium and continued to develop dynamically thereafter, providing a strong educational foundation upon which the College could build.

The College of the Upper Hungarian Estates
After resolving several preliminary questions concerning the establishment of the institution, representatives of the Upper Hungarian counts, barons, magnates, counties, and free royal towns publicly proclaimed the foundation of the College of the Upper Hungarian Estates at their assembly in Košice on 18 November 1665. Simultaneously, the delegates of the estates issued an appeal to all Christians for material assistance in constructing the school. This fundraising campaign clearly demonstrates the deep integration of the College into both domestic and broader European political networks on the threshold of the second half of the seventeenth century.
Lutheran landowners and townspeople from across the kingdom willingly participated in the collection, contributing not only money but also goods and real estate. Among the most notable donors, the wealthy Lutheran landowner from the Sopron County, Štefan Vitnyédy, contributed 6,000 guilders for the construction of the College. Additional contributions of 1,000 guilders were made by several other Lutheran nobles. The prominent Šariš landowner Andrej Keczer donated 1,000 guilders for the building and committed to providing annually twelve “gbel” of grain and a cask of wine until his death; his relative Menhart Keczer made a similar contribution. František Dessewffy donated the same sum, grain, and wine, together with ten casks of beer. Sebatián Saárossy contributed 200 thalers, and several hundred guilders were donated by other landowners. The townspeople and municipal authorities of the free royal towns and royal mining towns were equally generous. Žigmund Zimmermann gave 500 guilders, Ján Lengfelner 360 guilders and a cask of wine, and Prešov’s mayor, Ján Weber, together with Daniel Guth, Ján Roth, and other townsmen, contributed 200 guilders or smaller sums. Alžbeta Merwaldt endowed the College with 600 guilders and established a fund providing 100 guilders annually; in the following year, she bequeathed an additional 6,000 guilders designated for professors’ salaries. Prešov’s merchants contributed 100 guilders collectively, and the craft guilds donated 677 guilders. Substantial contributions were also made by the municipal authorities and townspeople of Sabinov, Bardejov, and other towns.
In addition to monetary contributions, donations also included in-kind gifts, particularly grain, wine, and beer, which were to be provided annually to the College’s professors and students. Some townspeople, such as Pastor Ján Sartorius and, later (in 1669), Nebest, even donated—or lent—their own houses to the College to serve as residences for the professors. The town of Prešov allocated revenues from the subordinate villages of Kojatice and Chmiňany, as well as two additional noble estates, for the support of its higher education institution. In the following months, the fundraising campaign continued both throughout the kingdom and abroad. In addition to the Transylvanian estates, the College received significant contributions from German towns, some Protestant German princes, the Dutch estates, and even the kings of Denmark and Sweden, the latter personally donating 20,000 guilders. By early 1666, these contributions had brought the total amount collected to more than 50,000 guilders.
Lutheran nobles and townspeople continued to contribute to the College in the subsequent years. Among the most generous donors was Count Štefan Thököly, who endowed the institution with vineyards in the Tokaj region of Mád, with a total value of 10,000 guilders.
The public fundraising campaign, organized by the Protestant estates for the construction of the College of the Upper Hungarian Estates in Prešov, was also conducted abroad. In addition to the Transylvanian nobility and towns, the Dutch estates, and Scandinavian monarchs, German princes participated in the effort. The most detailed information regarding these activities and the stance of German rulers and nobility comes from Württemberg. The Württemberg prince held a particularly significant position in providing diplomatic support to the Upper Hungarian estates. Prince Eberhard received information about the forthcoming first and only Lutheran higher education institution in Hungary as early as November 1665. On 18 November 1665, following the issuance of the College’s official founding charter, the delegates of the estates, together with participants of the Upper Hungarian Reformed convent, appealed to foreign rulers for assistance. Their appeal requested not only material support for the construction of the College but also political backing, both against their own king, Leopold I, and at foreign courts, particularly within the Holy Roman Empire. A similar appeal was sent to the prince on 14 January 1666. The following month, on 9 February 1666, they requested intervention with the French king to secure a passport for their agent and obtain permission to conduct a collection among the French Reformed communities. More detailed information on the objectives of the Upper Hungarian estates and the construction of the College was provided to the Württemberg prince by Štefan Vitnyédy, a prominent representative of the Hungarian Lutherans, who sent several letters to the princely court in Stuttgart.
The foreign fundraising campaign for the College, particularly within the Holy Roman Empire, progressed slowly. Consequently, the effort continued throughout the construction of the school. In October 1666, Štefan Vitnyédy entrusted Juraj Dömötöri, a student at the University of Tübingen, with representing the interests of the estates in the Duchy of Württemberg. At the end of the year, the estates once again appealed to Prince Eberhard, requesting specific support for the Prešov College, not only within Württemberg but also in other principalities and imperial cities of the Swabian Circle, and even in Switzerland. In response, Prince Eberhard issued, on 2 January 1667, a travel pass—or more accurately, a protective letter—for the agents of the Hungarian estates, Juraj Dömötöri and Ján Žigmund Kersten. A month later, on 3 February, Prince Eberhard himself addressed an extensive letter to the German Protestant princes, the estates of the United Provinces, the rulers of Nassau and Brandenburg, and the imperial cities of Frankfurt, Bremen, and Hamburg, in which he explained the reasons for establishing the College in Prešov and the precarious position of the Hungarian estates. Several months later, in May 1667, Wittnyédy again sought assistance in mediating support, not only from German princes but also from the Netherlands and Sweden.
It is noteworthy that both the delegates of the estates, Wittnyédy, and especially Prince Eberhard emphasized several key points in their correspondence. First and foremost, they stressed the higher-education character of the College, referring to it with contemporary terms such as Academia, Hochschule, Academisches Gymnasium, and Collegium Academicum. In their appeals for support, they explained that they were requesting not only material assistance but also the provision of professors, particularly for the theological and philosophical faculties. They further clarified that the Upper Hungarian estates lacked sufficient funds for the construction of the College, due both to the prolonged Turkish war and to diminished church revenues. At the same time, they highlighted that supporters, through their generosity, were contributing to the expansion of the Lutheran Church and Christianity.
After sufficient funds had been collected and the necessary preparations completed, the foundation stone of the College of the Upper Hungarian Estates was solemnly laid in Prešov on 6 April 1666. Shortly before the completion of the building, on 16 April 1667, the Upper Hungarian estates reached an agreement with the free royal town of Prešov regarding the joint use and administration of the future College. All professors were required to be committed adherents of the Evangelical Church of the Augsburg Confession. They were obliged to sign and swear allegiance to the Augsburg Confession together with the Formula Concordiae. In order to successfully achieve their principal objective—preparing a new generation of Lutheran clergy, educated elites, and public officials—the professors had to be not only devoted to the Church but also highly educated and capable individuals.
The College of the Upper Hungarian Lutheran Estates in Prešov was officially inaugurated on 18 October 1667. According to its educational regulations, it functioned as a ten-grade gymnasium, with instruction in the higher disciplines of philosophy and theology in the upper grades. These advanced classes and the education they offered attracted students from across the kingdom and abroad, distinguishing the College from other Lutheran secondary schools. The number of students in these upper grades soon exceeded two hundred (by 1668/69 it had reached 258), indicating that the total student body of the institution was even larger.
Even during its brief period of uninterrupted operation, the College earned an excellent reputation both domestically and abroad. Its professors achieved results such that many graduates of the highest grades secured positions as school rectors or clergy even without university education. In this sense, the College functioned de facto as a higher education institution, an academy—despite initially being criticized by Leopold for its very construction. In light of these achievements, Rector Pomarius planned its early transformation into a full university.
However, this was not to be. In 1671, following the defeat of the Wesselényi Conspiracy, the College was confiscated by the sovereign’s forces, a fate that was repeated after the failed Kuruc uprising in 1673. It was only restored during the rebellion of Imre Thököly between 1682 and 1686, but from 1687 it was once again closed, remaining so until 1705, when its temporary reopening was permitted by the uprising of Francis II Rákóczi. Although the College had lost much of its property and income during the preceding period, it continued to fulfill its educational functions, now serving a significantly larger student body. Its founders also envisaged expanding its role to serve as a central documentation and archival institution of the Church. The definitive end of the College of the Upper Hungarian Estates came with the confiscation of its building at the close of 1711.

On the Periphery yet Within the Structures of Modern European Science and Culture
Shortly before the completion of the building, on 16 April 1667, the Upper Hungarian estates concluded an agreement with the free royal town of Prešov regarding the joint use and administration of the future College. All professors were required to be committed adherents of the Evangelical Church of the Augsburg Confession and were obliged to sign and swear allegiance to both the Augsburg Confession and the Formula Concordiae. In order to successfully achieve their principal goal—preparing a new generation of Lutheran clergy, educated elites, and public officials—the professors had to be not only devout members of the Church but also highly educated and capable individuals.
Initially, the newly established school was led by Dr. Michal Pancratius, the last rector of the municipal school and prefect of the College. However, in October 1667, he was succeeded by the first official rector, Dr. Samuel Pomarius, a distinguished theologian and graduate of several German universities. Prior to accepting the invitation to Prešov, Pomarius had served as an Evangelical pastor in Magdeburg during the summer of 1667. Among other notable faculty members were the renowned philosophers Izák Caban and Eliáš Ladiver. In addition to their many philosophical works, they became well known for their successful confessional disputations with the formidable Jesuit theologian Matej Sámbár in Košice between 1665 and 1666. Eliáš Ladiver also authored popular school theatrical plays, which students performed publicly at final examinations. Didactic dramas such as Eleazar Constans and Papinianus Tetragonos, performed before the Prešov public in Latin as well as in the town’s three vernacular languages (German, Slovak, and Hungarian), gained considerable popularity, in part due to their anti-Catholic and anti-Habsburg themes.
Despite severe financial constraints, ongoing material shortages, and the new responsibilities imposed on the College during its temporary restoration amidst the uprisings of Imre Thököly and Francis II Rákóczi, its professors continued to pursue scholarship, producing numerous high-quality works in theology, philosophy, history, and pedagogy. Despite wartime disruptions, a gradually deteriorating economic situation in the kingdom, and persistent financial difficulties, Rector Ján Rezik successfully ensured the proper functioning of instruction across all grades. Thanks to foreign contacts, some students were able to continue their studies at Protestant universities abroad. The College’s international prestige and its integration into the network of Protestant European academic institutions were further evidenced by an agreement with the King of Sweden in 1705, which provided scholarship placements for its students at the University of Greifswald. Together with other professors, including Peter Viczay, Ján Burius, and Matej Motúz, the faculty elevated the institution, marking the final years of flourishing during the first period of its existence. Even under adverse conditions following the Treaty of Szatmár, students from across the kingdom continued to attend the College, with many later gaining recognition as theologians, writers, or scientists. Among the notable figures studying in Prešov at the beginning of the eighteenth century were the future rector Samuel Matthaeides, the physician and naturalist Ján Adam Rayman, and the educator and writer Juraj Bárány.
The most prominent scholars of the College during its first period of existence were the theologian Samuel Pomarius and the philosophers Izák Caban and Eliáš Ladiver. Caban, an adherent of the atomism, rationalism, and empiricism that were widespread in Western Europe at the time, conveyed contemporary Western European philosophical concepts to the Hungarian academic environment through several of his scholarly works and textbooks. He was particularly inspired by the philosophies of Daniel Sperling and Pierre Gassendi.
By contrast, the pedagog, theologian, and philosopher Eliáš Ladiver represented a different intellectual perspective. He was an orthodox Lutheran-scholastic Aristotelian, drawing inspiration from the works of Western European philosophers and theologians such as Melanchthon, Alsted, Scharff, and Calov.
The theologians and philosophers of Prešov did not establish independent scientific schools or original philosophical systems. Rather, they typically published compilations of Western European ideas, compendia, and textbooks aligned with contemporary thought. In doing so, they effectively transmitted the achievements of modern Western European science and philosophy to the local Hungarian academic and professional community, particularly to the clergy.

The College in Political Struggles
The College of the Upper Hungarian Estates—representing the most defiant segment of Hungarian society—could not remain neutral in the anti-Habsburg uprisings of the period. From its inception, it was perceived as a demonstration of the strength of Protestant estates and towns in the context of intensifying re-Catholicization. This is clearly illustrated by the fact that the construction of the College was repeatedly prohibited by the Archbishop of Esztergom and even by the monarch himself, who accused the estates of attempting to establish a university. Nevertheless, the nobility and towns completed the College, providing Leopold with a pretext for its confiscation following the Wesselényi Conspiracy in 1671.
[bookmark: _GoBack]The College exerted a significant influence on its young students, shaping their intellectual and moral development. Its professors fostered not only a love of science and the arts but, above all, devotion to the Evangelical faith, the homeland, and freedom of religion. Among the first and most renowned students was Count Imre Thököly, later the leader of the most substantial anti-Habsburg uprising to date. He studied in Prešov from January 1668 until his forced flight following the failed Wesselényi Conspiracy in the spring of 1670. According to Thököly, the nearly three years he spent at the College played a decisive role in forming the perspectives of the future leader of the resistance. Other notable students in the first year included his future general, Baron Štefan Petröczy, the future Rákóczi-era Prešov magistrate Ján Klesch, as well as the writer and artist Jonáš Bubenka, who illustrated Comenius’s Orbis Pictus, and in the lowest class (parvistis), the future celebrated Baroque artist and court painter to the English queen, Jakub Bogdani. The second-year student roster further illustrates the ethos in which the professors educated their pupils: alongside young Thököly and Petröczy, several future participants of both Thököly’s and Francis II Rákóczi’s uprisings were enrolled. Among Thököly’s later followers were the diplomat Juraj Petenády, the princely castle captain Martin Izdenczy, councillor of Thököly’s Spiš Chamber Andrej Szirmay, Colonel Volfgang Jánoky, estate administrator Ján Kelemessy, and kuruc officers Žigmund Bertóthy and Žigmund Dobay. During Rákóczi’s uprising, alumni also assumed high military and state offices, including Alexander Keczer (councillor, Senate member), Michal Roth (deputy ispán of Šariš), Pavol Szalay, Samuel Sztankay, Adam Makay, Martin Izdenczy, Andrej Szirmay, and Žigmund Bertóthy. In 1670, Juraj Ottlyk, later Thököly’s colonel and Rákóczi’s brigadier general, studied at the College. Another notable student was the future rector Ján Rezik, author of Prešov Massacre and Gymnasiologie, whom Rector Samuel Pomarius sent to Košice during his studies to continue theological disputations with the Jesuit Matej Sámbár.
Students, professors, and the curators or inspectors of the College actively participated in the anti-Habsburg uprisings of Imre Thököly and Francis II Rákóczi. Some became prisoners or victims of the bloody Prešov trials of 1687. Since the leaders of the uprisings enabled the College’s temporary restoration, returned its building, and financed its operations, the College’s administration and students stood unreservedly on their side. Professors composed celebratory poems in their honor, organized school festivities, and, when necessary, took up arms to defend the College against the monarch’s forces. For these reasons, during this period, the institution acquired the epithets Collegium Thökölyanum and Collegium Rákóczianum.

